ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Georgetown County  
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**  
JUL 30 2015  
S.C. Supreme Court

DONOVAN RAHEAM PRINGLE,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000017  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did trial counsel's failure to call two witnesses to testify in support of Petitioner's alibi violate Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments where the prosecution presented no physical evidence linking Petitioner to the crime, the only evidence against Petitioner were inconsistent statements by a co-defendant, and trial counsel admittedly had no defense strategy?

II. Did trial counsel's failure to conduct a pre-trial investigation violate Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments where trial counsel had no defense strategy and a pre-trial investigation would have supported presentation of an alibi defense?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 8, 2009, a Georgetown County grand jury indicted Petitioner for armed robbery (2009-GS-22-00836) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2009-GS-22-00837). App. 360-361; App. 363-364. The state, represented by Nancy Cote, called the case for trial before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson and a jury on December 14, 2009. Reuben Goude represented Petitioner. App. 1. The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. App. 182, lines 11-17. Judge Culbertson sentenced Petitioner to twenty years' imprisonment for armed robbery and five years' imprisonment for the firearm. He ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. App. 189, lines 16-24; App. 362; App. 365. Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal, which was perfected by Elizabeth Franklin-Best. App. 192-201. On May 16, 2012, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentences in an unpublished opinion. State v. Pringle, 2012-UP-303 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 16, 2012); App. 212-213.

On July 10, 2012, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 214-240. On August 28, 2014, the matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington. App. 255. Tristan Shaffer represented Petitioner. Joshua Thomas represented the state. App. 256. By an order filed on October 20, 2014, Judge Harrington denied Petitioner relief. App. 345-353. Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend and motion to reconsider on October 31, 2014. App. 354-357. On November 4, 2014, Judge Harrington denied the motions. App. 358. Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### **Relevant facts from the trial**

By letter dated December 9, 2009, trial counsel sent a “notice of alibi” to the solicitor. Supp. App. 1-2. The trial started five days later on December 14, 2009. App. 7, line 1. The solicitor moved to exclude any evidence of an alibi because the notice was not served timely as required by Rule 5(e)(1), SCRCrimP.<sup>1</sup> App. 7, line 20 – App. 8, line 13. Trial counsel indicated he would not oppose a continuance if the state wanted time to investigate the alibi. App. 8, lines 16-18; App. 9, line 5. However, trial counsel argued against excluding the evidence noting the alibi witnesses were “household relatives” who “were going to say that [Petitioner was] in the house with them at the time of the robbery.” Trial counsel then noted the large number of individuals capable of investigating the alibi at the state’s request. App. 8, line 19 – App. 9, line 5. Trial counsel explained his tardiness was because of on-going negotiations in the case and noted, “[I]t’s hard to know exactly what to do up until the, up until the present.” App. 9, lines 6-14.

The trial judge ruled to exclude any evidence of the alibi. He noted that the crime occurred on December 23, 2008 and Petitioner was arrested soon thereafter. However, trial counsel “waited until last Wednesday to provide the alibi defense.” The judge concluded that Petitioner was aware of the defense and the witnesses since December 2008 because the

---

<sup>1</sup> The rule provides that “[u]pon written request of the prosecution stating the time, date, and place at which the alleged offense occurred, the defendant shall serve within ten days, or at such time as the court may direct, upon the prosecution a written notice of his intention to offer an alibi defense.” Further, the rule requires the notice to “state the specific place or places at which the defendant claims to have been at the time of the alleged offense and the names and addresses of the witnesses upon whom he intends to rely to establish such alibi.” Rule 5(e)(1), SCRCrimP.

witnesses were “household members.” He further emphasized the clarity of the rule regarding the timing of notice. App. 9, line 22 – App. 10, line 5.

During the offer of proof, trial counsel provided a copy of the notice to be made a court’s exhibit. Supp. App. 1-2; App. 12, lines 11-14. Further, trial counsel explained that his secretary had prepared the notice while he was in court and two of the alibi witnesses were not household members and should not have appeared on the notice. However, the first three witnesses listed were family members or friends and would say that Petitioner was in the house asleep at night during the robbery. App. 11, lines 20-25.

When the trial started, trial counsel’s opening statement consisted of five brief sentences, none of which discussed the case: “My name is Reuben Goude. I’m a lawyer here in Georgetown. I represent [Petitioner] who is seated over there. What I ask you to do is listen to the evidence that’s going to be presented on the witness stand today and tomorrow and I’ll come back tomorrow and I’ll discuss the verdict with you at that time. Thank you very much.” App. 70, lines 5-10.

Thereafter, Herman Lee Michau, the desk clerk at the Carolinian Inn, testified that on December 23, 2008 between 4 and 5 a.m.,<sup>2</sup> two black males with bandanas around their faces entered the hotel and demanded money.<sup>3</sup> App. 71, lines 9-12; App. 71, line 18 – App. 72, line 11; App. 72, lines 23-25; App. 73, lines 1-9. He described the men as carrying kitchen knives

---

<sup>2</sup> The lead investigator on the case, Richard Floyd, testified that he received the call to respond “approximately around 4:30, 5 o’clock in the morning hours.” App. 103, lines 10-17.

<sup>3</sup> Michau was on “supervised release” following a criminal conviction for bank robbery in federal court and service of a prison term. He also had a pending charge in Horry County. If he were convicted of the pending charge, it would serve as a violation of his “supervised release.” However, Michau claimed he had no agreement with the state to receive favorable treatment on his pending charge in exchange for his testimony. App. 84, line 24 – App. 85, line 4; App. 90, line 13 – App. 91, line 1.

approximately eight to ten inches in length. App. 73, line 25 – App. 74, line 8. The men demanded money, which Michau gave to them. App. 74, lines 14-18; App. 75, lines 12-13. Additionally, Michau stated the men asked for his money and his cell phone. Michau gave them \$60 from his wallet, but pleaded with them not to take his cell phone. App. 75, lines 13-19. Michau promised not to call the police for ten minutes if they allowed him to keep his phone. App. 76, lines 16-21.

Prior to the men leaving, one man shook Michau's hand, apologized, and explained he needed money to buy Christmas presents for his child. App. 76, lines 3-15. Michau noted the men were unable to make a quick escape because "they ran into this walled area and couldn't get out." App. 82, lines 6-20. Michau called 911 and the hotel owner "after the two guys had run across the street and they disappeared somewhere back behind the VFW club." App. 85, lines 5-9. Michau's only description of the men was that one was taller and had a darker complexion. App. 82, lines 21-25. He was unable to identify the robbers.

After Michau testified, the solicitor withdrew the objection to the presentation of an alibi defense "out of an abundance of caution." App. 93, line 25 – App. 94, line 6. Thus, trial counsel was free to present an alibi defense through witnesses and argument; however, trial counsel failed to do so despite the ready availability of the witnesses present in the courtroom.

Petitioner and Genene<sup>4</sup> Alston were dating in December 2008. Alston was working at the Carolinian Inn at the time. App. 109, lines 6-25.<sup>5</sup> Alston quit when the owner accused her of stealing money. App. 110, lines 1-21. Alston told Petitioner what happened and explained she

---

<sup>4</sup> The court reporter for the trial spelled this witness's name as "Genene." The court reporter for the PCR hearing spelled the witness's name as "Janine."

<sup>5</sup> Alston testified pursuant to a "qualified immunity" agreement. As long as she testified consistently with statements she previously made to the police, then her testimony at the trial would not be used against her. App. 114, line 2 – App. 117, line 5; App. 122, lines 11-18.

was upset over the incident. App. 110, line 22 – App. 111, line 6. While blowing off steam, Alston said that “karma need[ed] to come back on [the owner]” and that “somebody needed to rob her” and “egg her car.” App. 111, lines 6-10. Alston claimed that she told Petitioner and his cousin, Shane Pringle, how the lobby was laid out, that the doors were unlocked, and the location of the desk. App. 111, lines 11-19; App. 123, lines 17-25. Alston also claimed that she told Petitioner that Mr. Mingo would be working, but Mr. Lee was working. Despite her claim that she told Petitioner about Mr. Mingo, she claimed she described Mr. Lee to him. App. 120, lines 20-24.

When asked if she had contact with Petitioner on December 23, 2008, Alston responded that she and he went bowling “that night and then later you would say early morning around – I can’t give the specific time but between 3 and 5” she and Petitioner exchanged text messages. App. 121, lines 2-11. Thereafter, the following exchange occurred:

- Q. What did the text messages say?
- A. That I lied about who would be working and I wanted – I asked him what did he do and why was he out so late.
- Q. Did he respond to you?
- A. Yes, he did.
- Q. What did he say?
- A. He told me that he was out riding around and he was just out riding around him and Shane.

App. 121, lines 12-19. When Alston learned of the robbery from reading the newspaper, she asked Petitioner about it repeatedly. Petitioner always denied any involvement. App. 122, lines 1-6.

The state's final witness, Shane Pringle, testified that he did not go with Petitioner to the Carolinian Inn on December 23, 2008. He admitted that he robbed the hotel, but he testified that Petitioner was not his accomplice for the robbery. App. 125, line 23 – App. 127, line 2. Shane spent time with Petitioner and his family during Christmas of 2008. App. 127, lines 17-25. Shane admitted giving a statement to Investigator Floyd and speaking with Investigator Brown in the solicitor's office. App. 127, lines 3-13. When the solicitor attempted to impeach Shane with his alleged statements that Petitioner was involved with the robbery, Shane responded that he told the investigator "if he think we done it we done it." App. 129, lines 6-12. Shane explained that Petitioner's only part in the robbery was giving him the idea. According to Shane, Petitioner "did not participate in it." App. 131, lines 1-11.

During a break, Shane listened to the audio-recorded statements he gave to law enforcement. App. 140, lines 3-7. Thereafter, Shane admitted that when he was questioned by Investigator Floyd, he implicated Petitioner in the robbery. App. 142, line 16 – App. 143, line 21. However, Shane also admitted that even when he was being interrogated by Investigator Floyd, he said that Petitioner "was not involved in the robbery." App. 144, lines 2-5.

Thus, the state's case consisted of (1) the hotel desk clerk testifying that he was robbed at knifepoint by two unknown black males, (2) an alleged co-conspirator denying Petitioner was involved, but admitting that he had inculcated Petitioner in his statement to police, and (3) Petitioner's former girlfriend, who had worked at the hotel and wanted vengeance for being accused of theft. Recounting this evidence in closing, the solicitor tried to bolster it by claiming the text message from Petitioner to Alston said "You lied about who would be working." App. 156, lines 10-12. Trial counsel objected to this argument as a "misstatement of the evidence." App. 156, line 13. Although the trial judge overruled the objection, the record reveals that trail

counsel was correct – Alston did not testify that Petitioner’s text said she lied about the identity of the desk clerk. App. 156, line 14; App. 121, lines 12-19. In fact, trial counsel disputed the solicitor’s statement early on in his closing argument: “The lady, Genene, what she said on the witness stand was and I think the solicitor had said something about my client having texted her about – something about a clerk. That lady never said that on the witness stand. If you have a doubt about it, you can ask to play that testimony back when you’re in the jury room.” App. 161, line 19 – App. 162, lines 22.

Relevant facts from the PCR hearing

Trial counsel candidly admitted – repeatedly - that he did not “have a good defense strategy in this case.” App. 270, line 22 – App. 271, line 3; App. 288, lines 22-23; App. 290, line 2; App. 292, lines 3-4; App. 292, lines 14-15. In fact, he did not “see a strategy that [he] could come up with.” App. 271, lines 12-14. Counsel’s claim that he could not develop a strategy was based, at least in part, on his faulty memory of the evidence – particularly the testimony of Alston.

Despite the clear record evidence to the contrary and trial counsel’s objection and argument to the contrary, at the PCR hearing, trial counsel claimed that Alston testified that Petitioner “texted her the night of the robbery, like 4:00 or five o’clock in the morning, that she had told [him] the wrong person was going to be working at the motel. So I guess the jury would figure the only way in the world he would know that is if he had just got through robbing the motel.” App. 266, lines 17-23; App. 290, lines 10-19. In fact, trial counsel recalled the testimony as being that Petitioner “texted her at 4:00 or five o’clock in the morning, exactly of the time of the robbery and says that the person you told me was working as the desk clerk was not there. How in the world would [he] know that other than having robbed the place?” App.

271, lines 19-23. Based on that supposed evidence, trial counsel “had no brains enough to have a valid defense that would let us get a not-guilty verdict.” App. 271, lines 24-25.

In light of the file’s disappearance, trial counsel was unable to testify with any specificity regarding his pre-trial meetings with Petitioner. App. 267, lines 9-15. Trial counsel admitted that Petitioner told him “his mama and his sister and a cousin would be an alibi.” Therefore, months before the trial, trial counsel sent out “the little form” to get witness statements. App. 269, lines 1-7; App. 239-242. Trial counsel did not remember if he talked to any of the witnesses personally, but he was certain he did not hire an investigator. App. 274, lines 17-22. He also did not recall if he “called each of these people on the phone and talked with them and got more nitty-gritty notes.” App. 280, line 22 – App. 281, line 4.

However, trial counsel claimed that his handwritten notes on the witness statements indicated reasons why the witnesses would not be called:

Thankfully, attached to [Petitioner]’s PCR application is the statements where during the week of trial I wrote down at the top on Shavon, the cousin, where I’ve got December the 15<sup>th</sup>, 2009. That little triangle there means the defendant. The defendant is telling me, my client, [Petitioner], do not use Shavon, she does not know where I was 4:00 to 5:00 a.m. on December 23<sup>rd</sup>, the time of the robbery, 2008.

App. 269, lines 16-23; App. 272, lines 10-16. Further, he claimed his handwritten note on the statement by Carlette Thompson indicated that Petitioner and his mother did not want her to testify because she was confused on the dates and times and she was nervous. App. 272, lines 17-23.

Turning to Petitioner’s mother as an alibi witness, trial counsel claimed Petitioner indicated his mother had a criminal record and was on probation. App. 273, lines 17-20.

Further, trial counsel indicated that mother's statement would harm Petitioner because she placed Petitioner with Shane on the day of the robbery. App. 274, lines 1-16.<sup>6</sup>

Finally, trial counsel explained that none of the witnesses' statements "had anything to do with 4:00 to five o'clock in the morning on Tuesday morning, the day of the robbery, the day and time." Therefore, even if he had called them to testify, "none of them knew anything on that time." App. 273, lines 7-13; App. 273, lines 20-25; App. 281, lines 9-20. Trial counsel called the defense proposed by Petitioner "a stupid no-alibi defense." App. 292, lines 16-24. He elaborated: "It was not valid. It was not like I had a good alibi defense and I just chose not to call it because I was needing to go to the golf course or I was trying to sell out my client. We had no valid alibi defense." App. 293, lines 1-4.

Regarding whether the witnesses would have testified that Petitioner was asleep at the time of the robbery, which is what he represented to the trial judge, trial counsel testified as follows at the PCR hearing:

- Q. And you said to the court that they were in their house - - he was in his house asleep that night of the robbery; right?
- A. That's what the client was saying, and he was saying his - - or that the - we were hoping, or he was hoping, or we were dreaming, or whatever we were doing, that the alibi witnesses would say; if they were going to say that.

---

<sup>6</sup> Regarding the allocation of authority between client and lawyer, trial counsel testified that he did not have the ability to override the wishes of his client. He explained that if Petitioner had instructed him to call his sister as a witness and he refused, then Petitioner would have accused him of "selling" him out or being "dumb." If he refused to call the witness because he was the "brilliant lawyer in the case" and Petitioner was "just a dumb client that has no say-so in [his] own case, and [he], Reuben Goude, His Majesty," refused to call the witness, then Petitioner would have moved to relieve him as counsel based on trial counsel being "dumb," "selling [him] out," being "crooked or ignorant, or whatever he was going to say." App. 294, lines 5-23. Trial counsel explained he would never do that because he likes his clients, tries to do a good job for them, is "a good lawyer and an honest lawyer." App. 294, line 24 - App. 295, line 2.

Q. Do you have any inclination that they wouldn't have said that, that he was sleeping that night?

A. I have an inclination that they did not say that or I would have probably called them as a witness. ... If I had - - because I talked with them, or would have, looks like I made those notes, and if they had said we saw him at 4:00 or five o'clock in the morning on Tuesday morning, December the 23<sup>rd</sup>, we walked by his room or he was using the bathroom or he went to bed at two o'clock Monday night in that bedroom and he came out of it at 6:00 a.m. Tuesday morning and we didn't hear him walking down the hall during the evening - - if they had said something like that, probably I would have used them.

App. 281, line 21 – App. 283, line 2.

In light of trial counsel's comments about the possibility of a witness stating that Petitioner was in his bedroom all night or others in the home did not hear him walking down the hall during the evening, PCR counsel asked if trial counsel knew where Petitioner lived. Trial counsel was forced to admit he did not even know where the road was, much less Petitioner's actual home. App. 283, lines 3-22. Despite not knowing the location of Petitioner's home, trial counsel claimed he "would know roughly that it's twenty miles, give or take, from the Carolinian Inn in Georgetown." App. 284, lines 2-3.

Petitioner testified that he met with trial counsel "[a]bout four times." App. 301, lines 2-4. Although trial counsel vaguely discussed the evidence with him, trial counsel did not show him the discovery in the case. App. 301, lines 15-21. The only defense strategy the two discussed was presenting Petitioner's alibi defense. App. 302, lines 11-19. Petitioner wanted all of his alibi witnesses to testify, and he never told trial counsel that he did not want them to testify at the trial. App. 302, line 20 – App. 303, line 1; App. 304, line. In the middle of the trial, trial counsel told Petitioner he was not going to call Petitioner's alibi witnesses. "At first he was saying that they would probably harm the case." Also, trial counsel was not sure what the

witnesses would say because he “didn’t really have a chance to talk to them face-to-face.” App. 303, lines 11-16; App. 303, line 24 – App. 304, line 8.

When the robbery occurred, Petitioner was at his mom’s house, where he was visiting for the holidays, in “the middle of nowhere” on the outskirts of Andrews. The family lived on five-acres with the closest neighbor approximately 300 yards away. The town of Andrews was a four-to-five minute drive away. App. 306, line 21 – App. 307, line 22. Due to the rural area, there was almost no traffic on the road. App. 307, lines 23-25. The home was a double-wide trailer with four bedrooms and very thin walls. Those inside the home could hear people driving up and driving away from the home. App. 308, lines 6-8; App. 309, lines 1-8. Trial counsel conducted no investigation into the circumstances and never asked Petitioner any questions about the home. App. 313, line 11 – App. 314, line 12.

On Monday night preceding the robbery, Petitioner went bowling and arrived home around 11:30 or midnight. He then went to eat with a cousin named Ronald in Georgetown. He returned home around 1:30 a.m. He did not have a key to the home so he called his sister, who was sleeping, to let him in. He then played a video game until he fell asleep. He was unsure what time he fell asleep, but when pressed for a time, he guessed he played the game for “[p]robably about two-and-a-half hours.” In other words, he estimated he went to sleep around 4:00 a.m. App. 309, line 15 – App. 310, line 12.

Petitioner’s mother, Carla Thompson, testified at the PCR hearing. App. 316, lines 6-8. She never spoke with trial counsel. App. 316, lines 13-14; App. 317, lines 18-20. However, she spoke with his paralegal. App. 317, line 21 – App. 318, line 24. She saw Petitioner on Tuesday morning, the morning of the robbery, “probably around about 2:30, three o’clock, 3:30.” She remembered that she was still up wrapping Christmas gifts. App. 319, lines 3-6. When she went

to sleep, Petitioner was still in the house and nothing woke her up during the night. Further, when she woke up the next day, Petitioner was still in the house. App. 321, lines 15-22. She recalled Petitioner was playing a video game. App. 322, lines 5-10. She was sure Petitioner was home that night. App. 322, lines 11-24. If she had been called to testify, she would have said that Petitioner was in her home. App. 323, lines 3-5.

She further explained that her home is a double-wide trailer. App. 319, lines 20-24. She could easily hear cars pulling up outside, and because she was a light sleeper, she heard everything that occurred. App. 320, lines 1-8. Also, the family owned dogs who barked whenever anyone entered the yard. App. 319, lines 7-11; App. 320, line 9 – App. 321, line 5. Just as Petitioner said, there was not much traffic on their rural road. App. 321, lines 6-7. Further, she readily admitted she had a criminal record for habitual traffic offender, which was the only criminal offense on her record, as stipulated to by the state. App. 324, line 15 – App. 325, line 25.

Carlette Thompson, Petitioner's sister, also testified at the PCR hearing. App. 334, lines 6-8. On Tuesday morning, she saw Petitioner "around one o'clock, 1:30" when Petitioner called her to open the door for him. App. 335, lines 1-10. After she let Petitioner in, the two went to the room and talked. App. 335, lines 13-19. She did not recall how long the two talked, but she knew that Petitioner was still in the home when she woke up the next morning. App. 335, line 12 – App. 336, line 4. Further, and more to the point, she testified that Petitioner never left during the night. She knew this "for a fact." App. 336, lines 8-11. Had she been called to testify at the trial, she would have testified consistently with her PCR testimony. App. 337, lines 2-5.

## ARGUMENT

I. Trial counsel's failure to call two witnesses to testify in support of Petitioner's alibi violated Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments where the prosecution presented no physical evidence linking Petitioner to the crime and the only evidence against Petitioner were inconsistent statements by a co-defendant.

### **Relevant facts**

#### Order denying relief

According to the order denying relief, trial counsel testified Petitioner "did not wish to call his mother as a witness because she had a prior criminal record." App. 347. Further, trial counsel asserted that Petitioner "did not want to call his sister to testimony on his behalf because she was nervous and confused." App. 347. "Trial counsel did not call either of these witnesses because neither could positively establish an alibi." App. 347. In order to "positively establish an alibi," Petitioner would need witnesses who could establish Petitioner's "exact whereabouts at the time of the robbery." App. 347. Although the PCR court stated that Petitioner's "mother could not account for [Petitioner] after 1:30 AM the night of the robbery," the PCR court acknowledged that Mother initially testified she went to bed at 4:00 AM and later stated that she was up between 4:00 AM and 5:00 AM and saw Petitioner playing video games. App. 347; App. 349.

The PCR judge found that trial counsel "articulated valid strategic reasons for not calling either of these witnesses at trial." Additionally, the order stated that Petitioner instructed Petitioner not to call the witnesses and that Petitioner "cannot now complain that trial counsel did not utilize them." App. 350. Further, the PCR judge determined that Petitioner could not

show prejudice because “their testimony at the evidentiary hearing does not establish an alibi.” App. 351. Under the PCR judge’s formulation, in order for a witness to provide an alibi, the testimony must prove that the defendant was at a place so distant that his participating in the crime was impossible. App. 351 (citing State v. Robbins, 275 S.C. 373, 375, 271 S.E.2d 319, 320 (1980)). Sister did not establish an alibi because she “could not account for Petitioner’s whereabouts” between 1:30 a.m. and later in the morning. In essence, “[b]ecause she could not testify to [Petitioner]’s whereabouts immediately prior to 4:50 AM, [Petitioner]’s sister’s testimony would not have provided an alibi” for Petitioner. App. 351. Further, the PCR court found Mother’s testimony failed to establish an alibi because “[h]er testimony changed between direct and cross-examination regarding key details, including what times she was asleep and what times she actually saw [Petitioner] in her house.” App. 351. Regarding mother’s testimony, the PCR court noted

her testimony did not account for his whereabouts leading up to the time of the robbery. She initially testified she went to sleep at 4:00 AM, which would have left time for [Petitioner] to have traveled the roughly twenty (20) miles to the crime scene. [Petitioner]’s mother later testified she recalled being awake between 4:00 AM and 5:00 AM and she saw [Petitioner] awake and playing video games during that hour. [Petitioner]’s own testimony placed him asleep at approximately 3:00 AM.

App. 352 (internal citation omitted). Thus, the court concluded that Mother’s testimony would have directly contradicted Petitioner’s testimony and failed to establish an alibi. App. 352.

#### Motion to Alter or Amend/Motion for Reconsideration

In his motion to alter or amend/motion for reconsideration, Petitioner moved the court to reconsider the testimony at the evidentiary hearing. Petitioner argued the witnesses provided an alibi during the time of the armed robbery by testifying that he was at home and that they would have heard him if he left. App. 354. Further, Petitioner argued that trial counsel did not have

“valid strategic reasons” for not calling the alibi witnesses because he testified that he did not have any strategy or defense in the case. App. 355. Petitioner argued it was “unreasonable to choose ‘no defense’ over an alibi defense.” App. 355.

#### Order denying the motion

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