STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

DEC 11 2015

Appeal from Georgetown County
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. Supreme Court

The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Trial Judge
The Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000017

Donovan Raheam Pringle, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JESSICA E. KINARD
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar #77889

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. Whether probative evidence supports the PCR Court's finding that trial counsel performed effectively even though he did not present alibi witnesses.

Petitioner argues that the PCR Court erred when it did not find trial counsel ineffective for failing to call alibi witnesses. Petitioner separates this argument into two (2) parts, specifically 1) failure to introduce alibi witnesses and 2) failure to conduct a pre-trial investigation. Respondent argues that these issues are one and the same as they both concern preparation and presentation of the alibi witnesses in terms of trial counsel's effectiveness. Regardless, Petitioner's argument is meritless as ample evidence supports the PCR Court's finding that trial counsel was not ineffective.

Respondent will first consider the matter of investigation. The manner in which Petitioner frames the issue of investigation in the petition for writ of certiorari is that of a total failure by trial counsel to investigate, though this is simply not the case. In a busy criminal defense practice, it is not uncommon for attorneys to have their staff do a great deal of legwork. Here, trial counsel and his office staff met with the potential witnesses

and received written statements from them. (App.pp. 317:21-318:4; 334:12-25.) There is no suggestion that trial counsel's office failed to contact any potential witnesses; rather, the argument is that he did not investigate well enough.

Trial counsel obviously reviewed these statements, as is evident by his handwriting on them and his testimony about them. (App.pp.272:7-274:16.) His testimony revealed that he did not feel that none of the witnesses would bolster his client's case, and that Petitioner's mother may also be viewed as not being trustworthy due to having a criminal record. (App.pp.281:9-283:2.) At the PCR hearing, PCR counsel called two (2) of these witnesses and asked what they would have testified to at trial. Just as trial counsel had found, neither could say that they saw Petitioner in the house between 4:00 and 5:00 a.m. when the robbery was allegedly occurring. Petitioner's mother stated that her trailer has thin walls, and her dogs bark loudly when people come and go. (App.pp.308:20-309:3.) Petitioner's sister said that she let him into the house around 1:30 a.m. and saw him playing video games. (App.p.322:5-10.) Trial counsel had this information beforehand, along with more information, such as that Petitioner's sister was nervous and confused about times. (App.p.272:17-23.) As cited by the dissent in Walker v. State, "since an alibi derives its potency as a defense from the fact that it involves the physical impossibility of the accused's guilt, a purported alibi which leaves it possible for the accused to be the guilty person is no alibi at all." 21 Am.Jur.2d, Criminal Law, s 136, (cited by State v. Robbins, 275 S.C. 373, 375, 271 S.E.2d 319, 320 (1980)). The totality of this evidence is enough to justify trial counsel's strategic decision not to call these witnesses.

Respondent does not dispute Petitioner's framing of the case law on page 22 of

the petition. Respondent does, however, dispute Petitioner's application of the facts. In this situation, the witnesses were identified, contacted, and their testimony was evaluated. See Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 756 S.E.2d 144 (2014).. Trial counsel fulfilled his duty to make reasonable investigations into witnesses. Id. Witnesses were interviewed by his staff and trial counsel did not rely on the statements of the Petitioner. At the PCR level, his decision was "assessed for reasonableness under all the circumstances with heavy deference to counsel's judgment." Bagwell v. State, 410 S.C. 259, 265, 763, S.E.2d 630, 633 (Ct. App. 2014). After this assessment, the PCR court found that his actions were reasonable and justifiable, and that Petitioner had failed to carry his burden. (App.p.352.) It was only at this time that a court had the opportunity to judge the credibility of these witnesses.

Based on all of this, trial counsel made a reasonable decision not to call these witnesses. Trial counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, at 668. As stated in the PCR order of dismissal,

"Applicant's sister's testimony clearly does not establish an alibi. She testified she saw Applicant at 1:30 AM, and again the next morning, but could not account for his whereabouts in the interim. Because she could not testify to Applicant's whereabouts immediately prior to 4:50 AM, Applicant's sister does not provide an alibi for Applicant. See Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 498, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995) (witness' testimony regarding applicant's whereabouts hours before crime does not create an alibi)." (App.p.351.)

The same can be said of mother's testimony: "Taking this testimony as a whole, the Court concludes Applicant's mother did not see Applicant after 4:00 AM. Furthermore, her testimony that she would have known if he left the house is mere speculation. ...[T]he Court finds Applicant has not demonstrated a reasonable probability his mother's

testimony would have changed the result at his trial.” (App.p.352.) When asked to review its findings in the motion for reconsideration, the PCR court declined to change its decision. (App.pp.358-9.)

These arguments all return to the two-prong test of Strickland v. Washington and the procedural guidance of Cherry v. State. It simply cannot be said that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686, 104 S.Ct. at 2064. Under the first prong of Strickland, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, *citing* Strickland. Certainly, trial counsel was reasonable in reaching out to all witnesses identified, gathering statements, reviewing these statements, and weighing the potential benefit of producing these statements through testimony at trial. Secondly, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. This burden has not been overcome. The PCR court did not find that the content and credibility of the witnesses’ statements was enough to reach the level of a reasonable probability, and there is no further argument or evidence provided to allow this court to reach a different conclusion.

Petitioner cited the matter of Stokes v. State, which is precisely on point, as trial counsel weighed the value of testimony and decided it would not be of value, including listening to Petitioner’s wishes. 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). (see App.p. 273:14-16, “And like I got through telling you, my client and the mama told me not to use

Shavon and the sister, Carlette, too.”) “If there is any probative evidence in the record to support the PCR judge's decision, his ruling must be affirmed. Where, as here, counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” Id. 308 S.C. at 548, 419 S.E.2d at 779. Trial counsel made a strategic decision that the potential alibi testimony simply was not strong enough to help Petitioner’s case. Furthermore, by not presenting a case, Petitioner gained an advantageous position in closing arguments.

Ultimately, the decision to call alibi witnesses and use their testimony is in the discretion of the defendant and trial counsel. In this circumstance, the matter was discussed, and the decision reasonable decision was made not to call these witnesses. Because of the witnesses’ unreliable stories, none of which could firmly place Petitioner in the home during the time of the robbery, and a lack of evidence on the part of the solicitor, trial counsel and Petitioner made a logical decision in not calling these people.

Conclusion and signature follow.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the State submits that the Petition should be denied. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.